SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

State of Mississippi

Plaintiff/Appellee

VS.

DOCKET NO. 2005-CP-00175-COA DOCKET NO. 2010-TS-02039 TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 2000-00080

One 1970 Mercury Cougar, One 1992 Ford Mustang, One Ford Mustang, \$355.00 U.S. Currency, And Willie Hampton

Defendant/Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 11TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF
TUNICA COUNTY

OPENING BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT
WILLIE RAY HAMPTON

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTIED

John M. Collette, MSB # 190 East Capital Street, Suite 475
Jackson, MS 39201
(601) 355-6277 Office
(601) 355-6283 Facsimile
Counsel for Appellant

and

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT
 HAMPTON THE REMAND HEARING IT WAS DIRECTED TO CONDUCT PURSUANT
 TO THE COURT OF APPEAL'S MANDATE. ITS DEFECTS INCLUDED:
 - 1. FAILURE TO ALLOW THE PRESENTATION OF EVIDENCE BY
 HAMPTON ON THE *BARKER V. WINGO*, 407 U.S. 514 (1972) FACTORS TO BE
 CONSIDERED REGARDING SPEEDY TRIAL;
 - 2. FAILURE TO REQUIRE THE STATE OR TUNICA COUNTY TO PRESENT EVIDENCE ON THE REASON FOR THE DELAY;
 - 3. FAILURE TO ALLOW HAMPTON TO BE PHYSICALLY PRESENT IN PERSON AT THE REMAND *BARKER* HEARING; AND
 - 4. MAKING FINDINGS ON A *BARKER* ANALYSIS WITHOUT TAKING EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of the Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below.

The case began when Willie Hampton was arrested in Tunica County, Mississippi, on 21 March 2000, for violating state drug laws. A search warrant executed after his arrest resulted in the seizure of the property that is the subject of this forfeiture case. Nine days after his arrest, a forfeiture complaint was filed in the Tunica County Circuit Court to be served on him at an address in Oakland, California, although he was known to be in federal custody prior to the filing of the forfeiture case because federal authorities had brought federal drug charges against him based on the same conduct. When Hampton sought discovery in the Mississippi forfeiture case, an order was entered in November 2000, staying discovery, pending conclusion of the trial of the federal criminal case and of the federal civil case.¹

The trial in the federal criminal trial concluded on 31 January 2001. The next event in the forfeiture case was a request by Hampton in December 2001 for Replevin of the property. Tunica County was aware of the conclusion of the federal criminal trial because its agents, who were involved in this forfeiture case, were also involved in the federal prosecution. Tunica County took no action after the conclusion of the federal criminal trial. The trial court also took no action.

In December 2004, Hampton filed a notice of change of address, and Tunica County filed another petition for forfeiture, which was out of time and was not authorized by the Circuit Court as an out-of-time filing, nor as an amended forfeiture complaint. A forfeiture hearing was noticed by Tunica County in December 2004 for 24 February 2005.

¹ The federal civil action was governed by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rules 26 to 37, on discovery. Those rules allow the same discovery that would have been available in a Mississippi state forfeiture case.

On 18 February 2005, the Clerk of the Circuit Court filed a notice to dismiss the forfeiture case for want of prosecution. No action was taken on that notice.

It appears that a hearing was held in the Tunica County Circuit Court on the forfeiture on 24 February 2005; however, Hampton was not present in person, nor was he represented by counsel, nor was he present by any other means. He was then in federal custody pursuant to his sentence in the previously mentioned federal criminal prosecution. An order was issued after the hearing granting forfeiture to Tunica County.

An appeal of that order was duly noticed by Hampton. In August 2006, the Court of Appeals for the State of Mississippi reversed the forfeiture order and remanded the case to the Circuit Court of Tunica County because of the substantial length of the delay between the filing of the forfeiture case in March 2000, and the February, 2005 hearing, which resulted in the forfeiture order. The purpose of the remand was to allow the parties to present evidence for analysis of the speedy trial standards under *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514 (1972).

The hearing mandated by the remand of August 2006 was scheduled for April 2010; however, although Hampton's witnesses were present, he was not present. Despite a Circuit Court grant of a Writ of Habeas Corpus Ad Prosequendum, and Hampton's express willingness to pay the cost of his transport from federal prison to the trial court for the hearing, he was not present in person or otherwise. The hearing was reconvened on 15 July 2010, and Hampton was present via telephone from federal prison. He was *pro se*.

At the July 2010, remand hearing, the lower court did not require evidence by Tunica County, and did not allow any evidence to be presented by Hampton. That court believed that evidence could not be allowed at the hearing. After the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court

entered an order reaffirming the original decision of February 2005. A notice of appeal was duly filed by Hampton.

Because there was some confusion about Hampton's filing of his notice of appeal, a

Show Cause Notice was issued by this Court on 16 August 2010 in Docket Number 2010-TS02039. That Notice indicated that the notice of appeal had not been filed until 3 December 2010.

A notice of appeal had been filed on that date; however, the original, notice of appeal was filed on 23 August 2010, making it timely under Rule 4(a) of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Undersigned counsel, who is now admitted *pro hac vice* in this case, had filed an application for *pro hac vice* admission in this case, and subsequently, a motion was filed by Mississippi counsel, the Honorable John M. Colette, Esq., seeking to transmit the record on appeal and entry of a briefing schedule. The application for appearance *pro hac vice* was granted by this Honorable Court, and a briefing schedule was entered. This brief is timely filed consistent with that schedule.

II. Statement of the Facts.

This is a forfeiture case filed by Tunica County, Mississippi, against various seized property owned by Willie Hampton. It languished without any action from its filing in March 2000 until a forfeiture order was entered on 8 March 2005, after a 24 February 2005 hearing. That order was appealed, and the Court of Appeals for Mississippi, in a mandate issued on 22 August 2006, remanded the case for a hearing in the Circuit Court regarding the delay consistent with *Barker v. Wingo, supra*. Ultimately, a non-evidentiary remand hearing was held in July 2010, and this appeal is from that hearing.

This case began in March 2000, when state law enforcement agencies arrested Hampton and charged him with violation of Mississippi's controlled substances laws. The Tunica County Sheriff's Department seized items of Hampton's personal property, including the vehicles and funds at issue in this case.

Nine days later, on 30 March 2000, after the arrest on state charges, Tunica County filed a complaint for forfeiture in the Tunica County Circuit Court, and served Hampton with process. In March 2000, a federal complaint was also filed against him for, essentially, the same charges as in the Tunica County Circuit Court. Hampton was transferred to federal custody, detained, and prosecuted in the United States District Court in Jackson, Mississippi.

In October 2000, Hampton, through counsel, filed a notice of deposition seeking to depose Deputy Sheriff Jerome Hudson in the forfeiture case. (R. 06)² Deputy Hudson failed to attend the scheduled deposition. Hampton then filed an answer to Tunica County's forfeiture complaint in November 2000, a motion seeking contempt against Deputy Hudson for his failure to attend the deposition, and a motion to compel his attendance at a future deposition. In response, the County made an *ore tenus* motion to stay discovery. An order staying discovery was entered by the Circuit Court on 30 November 2000. (R. 72, 73)

Hampton had filed a civil suit in the Tunica County Circuit Court against the County
Board of Supervisors regarding the case against him. That case was apparently removed, on
motion to the United States Attorney's Office in Jackson, Mississippi, to the United States
District Court in Jackson, where the criminal case against him was pending. The end result was
that both the federal criminal prosecution and civil case were pending in the United States

² Excerpts of the Record, filed contemporaneously herewith, are hereinafter referenced as "(R.)"

District Court in Jackson. The State prosecution remained in the Tunica County Circuit Court; however, no action was taken on it.

The order granting the stay of discovery did not stay the case, as such; rather, it only stayed discovery pending completion of the criminal trial and the federal civil case. (R. 72, 73) The criminal trial concluded on 31 January 2001. After sentencing, there was no further prosecution pending against Hampton in the federal court. The only matter which remained was the federal civil case.³ The law enforcement agents involved in the state and federal prosecution were the same and included the officer whose deposition led to the initial stay of discovery. The County took no action, whatsoever, regarding the stay or the forfeiture proceedings after the federal criminal trial ended. Hampton continued to be in federal custody.

On 17 December 2001, Hampton, acting *pro se*, filed a pleading entitled "Replevin" in the Circuit Court, which was his attempt to obtain dismissal of the forfeiture petition. No hearing was requested, and no action was taken by the Circuit Court, nor by opposing counsel. On 20 December 2004, Hampton filed a change of address, along with his prisoner number, with the Tunica County Circuit Court Clerk. His new address was a federal prison in Adelanto, California. Also on 20 December 2004, the County filed a new petition for forfeiture under the same Trial Court Case No., although there was no order by the Circuit Court granting the County leave to amend its prior petition or to file a new petition out of time.

In December 2004, Hampton's then counsel, Attorney David Hill, sent Tunica County's attorney a letter, indicating that he no longer represented Hampton. The following month,

³ Staying the discovery in the Mississippi forfeiture case pending resolution of the federal civil case was an anomaly, given the fact that Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 26 through 37 allowed the whole panoply of discovery available in other civil litigation, including depositions, such as the one that prompted the 30 November 2000 stay order in the first instance in this forfeiture case.

January 2005, Hampton filed a *pro se* pleading essentially requesting dismissal of the forfeiture case for the County's failure to prosecute it. He asserted that he wanted to have the case decided and asserted his speedy trial rights. (R. 07) On 18 February 2005, the Circuit Court Clerk filed a Clerk's motion to dismiss for want of prosecution, but the Circuit Court took no action. (R. 07) The Circuit Court appears to have conducted an *ex parte* hearing in February 2005, but there is no record of that hearing, only an order of 8 March 2005. (R. 07)

Hampton appealed the 8 March 2005 order, which appeal the Court of Appeals of Mississippi decided in *One 1970 Mercury Cougar, et al. v. Tunica County*, 936 So.2d 988 (2006) (Docket No. 2005-CP-00175-COA). The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the case to the Circuit Court with instructions that it conduct a hearing to determine the reasons for the delay and to provide Hampton an opportunity to establish any prejudice he may have suffered, in accordance with the factors set out in *Barker v. Wingo, supra.*, regarding speedy trial rights.

When nothing had been done by the County or the Circuit Court about the August 2006, mandate directing a remand, Hampton filed a motion to suppress the evidence in September 2006, a request to inspect the property in October 2006, a request to comply with the remand hearing on 16 October 2006, a request for clarification of the mandate in November 2006, as well a request for return of the property, and a request for a mandamus regarding the hearing on 19 December 2006. (R. 08)

Hampton again sought a hearing in March 2007, filed an affidavit regarding the violation of his due process right in July 2008, as well as a motion for a mandatory hearing, and, in November 2009, and a motion for a judicial inquiry regarding non-compliance with the mandate. (R. 08-09) Finally, an order was entered on 4 February 2010 setting a hearing. (R. 09)

In April 2010, a hearing was scheduled, pursuant to the Court of Appeal's remand. Prior to that date, Hampton had provided the Circuit Court with a list of the witnesses he wanted summoned for the hearing. At the April 2010, hearing, however, Hampton was not present; he was in federal custody in California. Some of his witnesses, however, were present. (R. Tr. 16-17) ⁴ The court adjourned the hearing which was reconvened on 15 July 2010, and did not, so far as the record establishes, excuse Hampton's witnesses or otherwise release them at the April hearing.

In the interim, the Circuit Court entered an order granting his request for a Writ of Habeas Corpus Ad Prosequendum permitting Hampton to appear for the July 2010, hearing provided he pay the costs necessary for that to occur. (R. 137) Hampton was willing to pay the costs and requested that the United States Marshals Service in Oxford, Mississippi, advise him about the arrangements that needed to be made and the cost for transportation to the hearing. When they informed him that they could not comply, he sought to pay the costs to the proper Mississippi authority. (R. 193, 198) No effort was made to transport Hampton, nor to allow him to pay the costs for transportation so that he could appear at the hearing.

In May 2010, Hampton filed a renewed motion of subpoenas for the production of witnesses, including a list of the names and addresses for those whom he wanted subpoenaed for the proceeding, as well as a modified witness list and a proposed list of exhibits. (R. 152-155)⁵

On 15 July 2010, Hampton was informed by the authorities at the federal prison that he was to attend the hearing in the trial court that very moment via telephone. Hampton appeared via telephone, his witnesses were not present, he was not able to present his evidence regarding

⁴ The transcript of the 15 July 2010 hearing in the trial court, filed with the Record excerpt, is hereinafter referenced as "(R. Tr. ---)."

⁵ It should be noted that the witness and exhibit lists that are referenced here had a hearing date that was "(To Be Determined)" because Hampton had not received notice of that date.

the prejudice he suffered as the result of the delay, nor other facts regarding the lack of any valid reason for the delay. Even though willing to pay the necessary costs to attend in person, he was not afforded such an opportunity. He appeared *pro se* via telephone and objected to not being allowed to confront his accusers, call his witnesses, and present his side of the case. (R. Tr. 9-14, 17-20)

During that July 2010, hearing, the County Attorney presented no evidence and called no witnesses. His argument was that they could not proceed in the forfeiture case after Hampton's federal criminal case was concluded because there was an order they had obtained staying discovery. (R. Tr. 7) Additionally, the County opined that Hampton should have obtained counsel and attended the 24 February 2005 hearing. (R. Tr. 7, 8) The County said he chose not to attend. The reasons for the delay were not otherwise addressed and the time between the August 2006 remand and the 15 July 2010 remand hearing was not addressed.

Hampton's response to the County Attorney's argument was that he wanted himself and his witnesses at the court so that he could make his case regarding the delay and the prejudice he suffered. (R. Tr. 9, 10, 12, 13, 14) Hampton addressed the fact that the record was silent regarding the reasons for the delay and reiterated that he wanted an opportunity to question the witnesses regarding the County's actions and the unwarranted delay they caused and to present his own witnesses regarding the delay, its causes, and the prejudice to his case that resulted. (R. Tr. 9-14, 17-20) Hampton also indicated that the Circuit Court had an obligation to assist him in being able to attend to protect his rights.

Subsequent to the 23 August 2010 Notice of Appeal filed by Hampton with the Circuit Court, a Show Cause Notice was issued by this Court on 16 December 2010 in Docket No. 2010-TS-02039. That Notice recounted that the Notice of Appeal had not been filed until 3 December

2010. While a Notice of Appeal had been filed on that date, the original Notice of Appeal was filed and docketed in the Circuit Court on 23 August 2010, making it timely under Rule 4(a) of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure.⁶

Responding to this Court's Show Cause Notice, Hampton filed, *pro se*, a response which contained the timely Notice of Appeal, the Circuit Court docket sheet noting its timely filing, and an Affidavit of the Honorable Sharon G. Reynolds, Circuit Clerk. Additionally, he provided documentation regarding requests for transcripts and designation of the record, as well as a written argument answering the Show Cause Notice.

After an application for the undersigned counsel, to be admitted *pro hac vice*, and a motion to order transmission of the record on appeal and to enter a briefing schedule were filed, a briefing schedule was set. This brief is timely filed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This is a forfeiture case regarding Mr. Hampton's property filed by Tunica County in March, 2000. Discovery was stayed in November, 2000. No hearing was held until February, 2005. Mr. Hampton was not present because he was in custody. A forfeiture order was entered against him in March, 2005. It was appealed and this Court remanded the case to the circuit court in August, 2006, for a hearing regarding the lengthy delay and the issue of prejudice of Mr. Hampton. That hearing was held in July of 2010, but the Court did not require the County to present evidence regarding the lengthy delay and would not allow Mr. Hampton to present evidence regarding either the delay or the issue of prejudice. His request for witnesses and exhibits was denied. His offer to pay the costs so that he could appear at the hearing was refused. He appeared *pro se* by telephone.

⁶ The additional Notice of Appeal on 3 December 2010 was filed at the suggestion of the Circuit Court Clerk; it does not negate the timely filed Notice of Appeal of 23 August 2010.

The lower court failed to comply with the remand directive, denied Mr. Hampton his due process rights, and did not allow the creation of a record which this Court can review regarding the speedy trial issue. The matter should be remanded for a proper evidentiary hearing so that a record can be made and Mr. Hampton can be afforded his due process rights.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

"Review of a speedy trial claim involves a question of fact: whether the trial delay arose from good cause." *Carr v. State*, 966 So.2d 197, 200 (¶5) (Miss. App. 2007) (citing *Flora v. State*, 925 So.2d 797, 814 (¶58) (Miss. 2006) and *DeLoach v. State*, 722 So.2d 512, 516 (¶12) (Miss. 1998)). This Court "will uphold the trial court's finding of good cause," based on analysis of the four *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514 (1972) factors, "if that decision is supported by *substantial, credible evidence*...However, if no *probative evidence* supports the trial court's findings, [this Court] must reverse the decision and dismiss the charge." *Id.* (emphasis added).

When the trial court fails to articulate factual findings on the *Barker* factors, this Court will conduct a *de novo* analysis of those factors. *See Scott v. State*, 8 So.3d 871, 890 (¶33) (Miss. App. 2008) (citing *DeLoach*, 722 So.2d at 516 (¶15)). The *de novo* standard of review has applied where "the trial court did not require the State to file a response to… [the] speedy trial motions nor did the court discuss the *Barker* factors in denying the motions." *Scott*, 8 So.3d at 890, 893 (¶33, ¶41) (remanding for an evidentiary hearing).

The trial court's order filed 30 July 2010 holding that "the forfeiture proceedings against One 1970 Mercury Cougar and others were properly conducted and [the court] properly granted the forfeiture," (R. 256-58), survives neither standard of review because the trial court did not

hold an evidentiary hearing as ordered by the Court of Appeals on remand (R. 20), at which Hampton was present in person.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING AN EVIDENTIARY
HEARING ON THE BARKER V. WINGO, 407 U.S. 514 (1972) FACTORS,
WHICH WAS ORDERED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS ON REMAND.

In One 1970 Mercury Cougar, et al. v. Tunica County, 936 So.2d 988, 992-93 (¶19-¶20) (Miss. App. 2006), the Court of Appeals of Mississippi "reverse[d] and remand[ed] in order to allow the parties to present a record that would allow analysis by th[e] Court under the Barker standard." The Barker factors, applied to forfeiture actions via United States v. Eight Thousand Eight Hundred and Fifty Dollars (\$8,850) in United States Currency, 461 U.S. 555 (1983), are:

(1) the length of the delay, (2) the reason for the delay, (3) the claimant's assertion of his or her rights, and (4) the prejudice to the claimant caused by the delay...Of these factors, the most critical is the prejudice to the accused.

Jones v. Green, 946 S.W.2d 817, 826 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1996); see One 1970 Mercury Cougar, 936 So.2d at 992 (¶16, ¶18) (adopting Jones v. Green, supra.).

As to the fourth *Barker* factor, prejudice to the claimant, the *Jones* Court further explained that "persons seeking to prove that a delay impaired their ability to present favorable evidence must demonstrate actual prejudice *by offering some proof* of the witness's expected testimony and of their efforts to assure that these witnesses would attend the hearing." *Jones*, 946 S.W.2d at 827 (emphasis added). The requirement of proof, at an evidentiary hearing, is further supported by recognition that it is a factual issue. *See, also, Commonwealth v. Goldman*, 496 N.E.2d 426 (Mass. 1986).⁷

In *Goldman*, the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts held that "[w]hether delay is reasonable calls for a determination of fact." "Neither the Commonwealth nor the defendant

⁷ See Commonwealth v. Two Parcels of Land, 724 N.E.2d 739, 746 (Mass. Ct. App. 2000) (citing Goldman and cited in One 1970 Mercury Cougar, 936 So.2d at 992 (¶16)).

offered evidence on th[at] question, nor did either request a hearing on the issue. Apparently, the judge concluded as a matter of law that a forfeiture decision could await sentencing on related criminal charges." The Court held that "there should have been an *evidentiary hearing* before a judge on the unreasonableness of the delay before entry of the forfeiture judgment." *Id.* at 427-28 (emphasis added).

By final way of example, in *Scott*, the Court of Appeals of Mississippi held, on the fourth *Barker* factor, that it was "unable to determine from the record whether Scott in fact lost any witnesses or documentary evidence during the time period between his arrest and trial and whether any such loss was the result of the delay caused by the State..." *Scott*, 8 So.3d at 893 (¶41). The Court "remand[ed] this case for an *evidentiary hearing* addressing the forms of prejudice Scott asserts and a determination of whether Scott was, in fact, prejudiced as a result in the delay of his trial." *Id*. (emphasis added).

Clearly, a trial court cannot make factual findings without evidence. See, e.g., Kay v. Kay, 12 So.2d 622, 627 (¶20) (Miss. App. 2009) (chancellor's factual finding that a percent of Greg's student loan debt was marital property, based on Greg's undisputed testimony that a portion of those loan proceeds were used for living expenses during the marriage, was supported by substantial evidence); Miss. R. Civ. Pro., Rule 52(a)-(b); Fed. R. Civ. Pro., Rule 52(a)(1), (3), (5).

In this case, the trial court made clear at the remand hearing on 15 July 2010 that "[w]e're not here to involve ourselves with evidence." (R. 20) Hampton argued "that [was] the whole purpose," which is supported by the case law on the application of the four *Barker* factors in civil

⁸See also State v. Nourallah, 726 So.2d 923, 926 (La. App. Ct. 1998) (on an evidentiary hearing and cited in One 1970 Mercury Cougar, 936 So.2d at 992 (¶16)).

forfeiture actions. Id.; see Jones, 946 S.W.2d at 827; Goldman, 496 N.E.2d at 427-28; Nourallah, 726 So.2d at 926. The trial court's refusal to allow Hampton to present evidence, or to require Tunica County to present evidence, renders any factual finding unsupported by substantial, credible evidence, and thus, requires reversal. See Carr, 966 So.2d at 200 (¶5). There is no evidence for this Court to conduct a de novo review. See Scott, 8 So.3d at 890 (¶33).

The trial court's rebuke to Hampton about there would be no evidence conflicts with its prior, proper issuance of subpoenas to Hampton's witnesses, some of whom did appear at the April 2010 hearing, as Tunica County acknowledged at the July 2010 hearing. (R. Tr. 16) The April hearing was adjourned, as detailed in section III, *infra.*, when Hampton, incarcerated in Colorado, was unable to appear in person in accordance with the court's order of a Writ of Habeas Corpus Ad Prosequendum. ¹⁰ See (R. Tr. 14)

The witnesses subpoenaed by Hampton to the April hearing, however, were ordered "there to remain from day to day until discharged by law to testify on behalf of...Hampton...in a certain case pending in said court wherein State of Mississippi is Plaintiff, and One Mercury Cougar, et-al, Defendant." *See* (R. 170-80)¹¹ While those witnesses were not discharged by law, they did not appear when the adjourned hearing resumed on 15 July 2010. *See* (R. Tr. 12)

⁹ See also (R. Tr. 19) (Hampton argued "I'm afforded the opportunity to call witnesses that you are denying me the right to call. How can I prove my prejudice and go back to the Supreme Court with a record if I'm not afforded those rights." The trial court had indicated that the "proceeding [was] not on the merits. [They were] here procedurally.")

¹⁰The court concluded that Hampton's "motion [was] well taken and should be granted." (R. Tr. 144) Hampton's motion, filed on his behalf by his then attorney, argued that "his presence in Tunica Circuit Court is necessary. Further, in order to prepare for trial, the Defendant should be transported to the Boliver County Detention Center as soon as possible and held...[there] until the trial of this matter." (R. Tr. 95)

¹¹ It is noteworthy that two of the eleven subpoenas issued were not served, as reflected by the blank return of service, (R. 170-71), and one was issued in duplicate, (R. 170, 180) Hampton had requested twelve subpoenas for the April 2010 hearing. (R. 85-86) On June 14, 2010, Hampton filed a renewed motion, which requested the issuance of sixteen subpoenas for the continued hearing date, *i.e.*, the motion

Further, subpoenas were not issued and served for all of Hampton's witnesses for the July hearing. See n. 11, supra. Hampton was denied the right to present that testimonial evidence at the Barker hearing ordered by this Court on remand.

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