#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

VS.

CAUSE NO.:2000-00080

2010-75-02039

ONE 1970 MERCURY COUGAR, VIN # 0F9111545940 ONE 1992 FORD MUSTANG, VIN #FACP44E4NF173360 ONE FORD MUSTANG \$355.00 U.S. CURRENCY AND WILLIE HAMPTON

**APPELLANT** 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 11<sup>TH</sup>
JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF TUNICA COUNTY
Cause No. 2000-00080

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE** 

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

VS.

CAUSE NO.:2000-00080

ONE 1970 MERCURY COUGAR, VIN # 0F9111545940 ONE 1992 FORD MUSTANG, VIN #FACP44E4NF173360 ONE FORD MUSTANG \$355.00 U.S. CURRENCY AND WILLIE HAMPTON

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Trial Court properly allowed Hampton to supplement the Record both as to his delay in requesting a hearing and any actual prejudice he may have suffered as was mandated by the Mississippi Court of Appeals. He appeared telephonically at the July 15, 2010 hearing and his counsel appeared in person and both had every opportunity to introduce evidence of their choosing. Further, Tunica County appeared at the hearing and gave reason why any delay on its part was reasonable under the circumstances. After due consideration, the Circuit Court was not persuaded by Mr. Hampton's argument and has not committed clear error by upholding its previous ruling forfeiting the property at issue to Tunica County. As such, this Court should allow the Circuit Court's ruling to stand.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Standard of Review

In forfeiture cases, the standard of review is the substantial evidence/clearly erroneous test. Hickman v. State, ex rel. Mississippi Department of Public Safety, 529 So.2d 44, 46 (Miss. 1991). Such a standard limits appellate review of the facts except in cases where the circuit court applies an erroneous legal standard to decide a question of fact. Id. A circuit court's findings will not be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous or unsupported by substantial evidence.

One 1970 Mercury Cougar at 991.

# II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REAFFIRMED ITS PREVIOUS RULING IN FAVOR OF TUNICA COUNTY.

The Court of Appeals remanded this case to the Circuit Court for supplementation of the record in order to facilitate further analysis of the factors outlined in <u>Barker v. Wingo</u>: length of delay, the reason for delay, the defendant's assertion of his right, and prejudice to the defendant. 407 U.S. 514 (1972). Specifically, the Court requested that Tunica County explain its delay in prosecuting the forfeiture action and that Hampton account for his delay in requesting a hearing on the matter as well as any prejudice suffered by him. After affording both parties the opportunity to do just that, the Circuit Court properly reaffirmed its earlier decision. The record reflects that the Circuit Court's findings were well founded and supported by substantial evidence, and as a result, its ruling should be upheld.

Before addressing Hampton's specific arguments, it should be noted that he raises a number of issues for the first time on appeal. However, in Mississippi issues not brought before the trial court are deemed waived, and may not be raised for the first time on appeal. <u>Tate v.</u> <u>State</u>, 912 So.2d 919, 928 (Miss. 2005).

#### A. The Circuit Court properly allowed Hampton to supplement the record.

As for Hampton's due process related arguments, they seem to be based purely on his dissatisfaction with the Circuit Court's ruling. The Due Process Clause does not ensure a particular outcome in a particular case. It simply guarantees an opportunity to be heard.

Matthews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976). The record is clear in that Hampton was given the opportunity to explain his delay in requesting a hearing as well as any prejudice he suffered.

After considering his arguments, the Circuit Court was not persuaded.

Hampton argues that he had the right to be physically present at the remand hearing and because he was not, his due process rights were violated. However, he cites no authority for this position, and in fact, no Mississippi court has ever held that such a right exists. While Mississippi has never addressed the issue directly, at least one court has expressly rejected the idea that the Due Process Clause mandates an incarcerated litigant's presence at a forfeiture hearing. See State v. Golston, 66 Ohio App.3d 423, 435 (1990).

Hampton's reliance on Robinson v. Hanrahan is misplaced. 409 U.S. 38 (1972). In Robinson, the Supreme Court held that the incarcerated litigant's due process rights were violated, not because the individual was not physically present at the hearing, but because he was not properly noticed despite the State's knowledge of his whereabouts. Robinson does not stand for the proposition that an incarcerated litigant has an absolute right to be physically present at a forfeiture hearing. Arguably, Robinson implicitly suggests that the opposite is true so long as the incarcerated party is properly noticed and, as quoted in Hampton's brief, given "an opportunity to present their objections." Robinson at 39-40. Hampton seems to suggest that one must be physically present in order to "present objections," however, such a leap in logic is not supported

by the case law. The Court's opinion says nothing of physical presence, and to suggest otherwise, is a mischaracterization of the holding. Moreover, Hampton was properly noticed and actually did participate and present his objections to the Circuit Court thus further rendering Robinson inapplicable to the case at bar. Hampton's contention that he was subjected to an "illegal hearing" based on his physical absence is wholly without merit.

Hampton's claim that he was entitled to an "evidentiary hearing" on remand is baseless. The Court remanded this case for the limited purpose of presenting "a record that would allow analysis... under the <u>Barker</u> standards." <u>One 1970 Mercury Cougar</u>, 992-993. The record reflects that the Circuit Court provided Hampton with ample opportunity to explain his three (3) year delay in requesting a hearing, and he was unable to do so. The Court, in no uncertain terms, explained that "Mr. Hampton is to make a record as to why he did not request a hearing for three years." (Tr. 5, lines 5-7) In response, Hampton contented that he requested "a speedy trial on December 7, 2000," which appears to be a reference to the document entitled "Replevin" filed by Hampton on December 17, 2000. (Tr. 18, lines 2-4) While this document was later interpreted to be Hampton's Answer to the Complaint for Forfeiture, it did not request a hearing on the matter, and Hampton never filed any such request until January 31, 2005. Hampton further attempted to justify his failure to request a hearing by saying, "It was not on me to exert my right to a speedy trial. It was my attorney's," implicitly conceding that no request for a hearing was ever made. (Tr. 18, lines 4-5).

Additionally, Hampton was given the opportunity to explain any prejudice he suffered as a result of the delay pursuant to <u>Barker</u>. Despite his insistence that he was prejudiced, Hampton never actually articulated actual prejudice. The record is void of anything which would indicate that Hampton suffered prejudice as a result of the delay. Without a showing of actual prejudice, delay may be considered harmless. <u>One 1970 Mercury Cougar</u> at 992. It must also be noted that

while Hampton acted *pro se*, there was an attorney present on Hampton's behalf to, according to Hampton, "represent my appearance in court." (Tr. 15, lines 14-16) With counsel present, Mr. Hampton could have called witnesses and introduced both documentary and testimonial evidence, but Hampton chose to rely on his own ability to make his case. Tunica County should not be forced to continue this litigation because Mr. Hampton did not adequately present his case when he was given every opportunity on July 15, 2010.

As evidenced by the record, the Circuit Court's findings on the issues of Hampton's delay in asserting his rights to a hearing as well as any prejudice suffered by him were proper.

# B. Tunica County properly supplemented the record with regard to the delay in prosecuting the forfeiture action.

Pursuant to the Court's directive, Tunica County augmented the record regarding their reasons for reasonable delay in initiating the forfeiture action. As counsel explained on the record, Tunica County was judicially estopped from pursuing the forfeiture matter based on the Circuit Court's Order staying discovery until the conclusion of Hampton's pending federal criminal and civil actions. (Tr. 6, lines 17-22) The first time that Tunica County could have brought this matter before the Court was only after it received permission from the Circuit Court to conduct a hearing on the forfeiture petition. Hampton was sentenced to federal prison on July 11, 2001, however, his federal civil case was not dismissed until August 24, 2009. (R.E. 74) In December, 2004, Tunica County sought to lift the stay and proceed with the hearing. Counsel further explained that the motion was made in 2004 because it had become evident that Hampton would be involved in protracted federal civil litigation for some time. (Tr. 7, lines 10-16). Due to the fact that Mr. Hampton's federal civil case was stalling and was not going to be resolved at anytime soon, Tunica County made an *ore tenus* motion to proceed with the forfeiture hearing, and that permission was granted by this Court. Tunica County then immediately filed a Notice

of Hearing setting the hearing for February 24, 2005. By certificate of service thereon, Tunica County gave Mr. Hampton adequate notice of the hearing. (R.E. 75, 76)

Once relief was granted by allowing the forfeiture hearing to take place, this matter was promptly adjudicated by this Court. Mr. Hampton did not assert his rights to a speedy trial until January 31, 2005 which was over three (3) years after the filing of the Petition to Forfeit, and once asserted, this Court held the hearing on this matter less than a month later, with Mr. Hampton choosing not to participate. (R.E. 7).

For the foregoing reasons, Tunica County has accounted for its reasonable delay in prosecuting the forfeiture action pursuant to the Court's request. As a result, the Circuit Court's findings were based on substantial, credible evidence, and its decision should be affirmed.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing reasons, Tunica County respectfully requests the Court to affirm the Circuit Court's decision.